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Chief Executive Officer – Mayor’s Message 
Welcome to the Township’s 2020 Annual Report.  

Council is always concerned about the health of our community. Whether it is a focus 
on financial health, physical health or mental health. 2020 was a year that tested all 
manner of our community’s health. Each and every business and resident felt the 
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic in some way. 2020 tested us all in ways we had 
not anticipated.  

In true Spallumcheen fashion, our community rose to the challenge. From people 
coming together to help each other out to businesses expanding and changing service 

delivery to meet provincial health orders we remained “Open for Business”. Township staff was no exception, and 
I cannot commend enough the resiliency they showed in working through the mental stresses of a pandemic to 
ensure that we were still open and accessible for our residents. One of the most impactful initiatives they worked 
on was setting up virtual platforms that allow council meetings to remain open to the public while maintaining safe 
participation. With the success of this transition to a virtual platform, Council will look at our ability to continue to 
offer meetings publicly in this fashion to allow greater transparency and ease of participation.  

Council knows that being able to adapt and change is one of the key markers of success and our community 
exhibited this trait over the past year. During 2020, Council was able to forge new relationships with the business 
community and collaborate with partners to make sure that key decisions and projects were kept on track and 
moving forward.  

During 2019 a Community Survey was conducted. While those results were presented in our 2019 Annual report 
and are still available on our website, we have included them again in our 2020 report. The results of that survey 
form part of the data that Council still uses to guide us in the decision-making progress. Because of the valuable 
data that was obtained, Council would like to utilize this form of engagement in the future, and you can expect to 
see more surveys offered in the next few years.  

In 2020, planning services transitioned to the Township of Spallumcheen from the Regional District North Okanagan 
(RDNO). I would like to extend our thanks to the RDNO staff that supported us for many years by providing excellent 
planning services for our residents. The Township of Spallumcheen looks forward to working with the RDNO on 
many future projects to enrich the lives of our residents.  

Council’s Asset Management Plan is a clearly mapped out platform allowing Council to still create forward 
momentum for the Township of Spallumcheen. This clear plan, assisted Council in 2020 to ensure that we are 
making sound decisions that meet our key objectives for every resident and business we represent.  

Important project highlights from 2020 include the following:  
• The Township started the process of transferring operation of the following Water districts: Lansdowne, 

Stardel, Highland Park, Silver Star, and Larkin.  
o Thank you to the volunteers who oversaw the management of these water districts for many years 

and provided invaluable help in the transition of these operations.  
• North Okanagan Wastewater Recovery Project progress 

o Finalization of the land agreement with John and Deanna Toporchuk  
o Design plans include working with Municipal Wastewater Regulations to ensure we are protecting 

waterways such as Swan Lake and the underlying aquifers with support from Okanagan Basin 
Water Board.  

o Purchase of 85 L&A Cross Road as the eventual site of the facility and solidifying the Townships 
financial contribution  

• Purchase of 4305 L&A Cross Road 
o With the south Spallumcheen development area there was opportunity to purchase property for the 

consideration of a future Agricultural Hub.  
o Property has highway and rail access. 
o Worked collaboratively with the Agricultural Land Commission to rezone a 2.5 hectare portion of 

the property for Agriculture Industry. 
o Worked with local farmers for a future feed mill to support agriculture. 

• Completed the Capital upgrades to Back Enderby Road 
o Created our first video engagement project to provide residents an overview of the Capital project. 
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• Small Business BC 2020 Open for Business Award Winner – Medium Communities Award 
o The Open For Business Awards recognize and celebrate communities that best demonstrate they 

are promoting and adopting business friendly initiatives within their region. 
• UBCM Community Excellence Award – Excellence in Service Delivery Honorable Mention award  

o The Community Excellence Awards are designed to profile promising practices and to create 
successful pathways and incentives for others to follow. 

• After extensive public and stakeholder consultation began the planned Passive Remediation works on Deep 
Creek and began finalizing the plans for similar Passive Remediation approach to Fortune Creek. 

• Work with MOTI to ensure safe affordable access to Highway 97A for future upgrades to McLeod 
Subdivision.  

• Transition of Bylaw enforcement service from a third party contractor to inhouse Township staff 
• Now that we operate several water service areas we have trained up our staff to ensure we have Qualified 

Water Operators in place  
• Staff and Council worked to ensure that Municipal Operations remained accessible to the public during the 

COVID-19 pandemic and that the Township remained compliant with all Provincial Health Orders and 
requirements.  

o This included physical adaptions such as virtual meetings and barriers as well as an awareness of 
the toll the pandemic was taking on mental health in our community.  

• Planning for sewer local area service to support the Spallumcheen Industrial Park and future growth areas 
in the south Spallumcheen development area. 

• Working with the Province to make fiber optic communication a reality for our business communities  
• Working with the Agricultural Land Commission to ensure our farming community needs are met and the 

unique needs of farming in the interior are addressed in the decision-making process.  
• Transition of Planning and Development services from the Regional District North Okanagan to Township 

staff.  
• Reviewed firefighting services and agreements in the south portion of Spallumcheen  
• The installation of barricades along Highway 97 was approved in 2020 and completed in 2021 making this 

stretch of highway safer for all motorists.  
o This was a major step forward in improving the safety of or highways for our Township residents 

and reducing the number of fatalities and serious injuries that our Emergency Services will have to 
respond to.  

• Received $1.6 Million dollars for COVID-19 relief costs associated with our community and started the work 
of ensuring that those funds support our community in bouncing back from the financial impacts of this 
devastating pandemic.   

Project Initiatives for 2021 include the following:  
• Support for the development of a future Feed Mill at 4305 L&A. to support local farming industry in 

Spallumcheen. 
• NOWRP work to Start later this year 
• Finalizing the Water District conversions  
• Capital roads construction  
• Purchase of the new grader  
• Continued partnerships with Armstrong for shared services and shared areas of concern 
• Subdivision servicing Bylaw upgrades 
• Rose Swanson Mountain Select Committee to review the protection and harvesting plans  
• Continue to work with the Solicitor General to keep our policing costs manageable  
• Continue to provide our community COVID-19 relief funding and assist where we can with mitigating 

financial impacts of the pandemic  
 

The Township is looking forward to having open houses and a community gathering as soon as we are able to, to 
help our community look forward to the remainder of 2021 and beyond. We want to show you all the exciting projects 
we are working on to strengthen our community. All the best to all of you. 

Respectfully, 
Mayor Christine Fraser  
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Township of Spallumcheen Organization Chart 
The Township of Spallumcheen was originally called a “District Municipality” when incorporated on July 21, 1892. 
It later became lovingly referred to as the “Township of Spallumcheen” after the incorporation of the City of 
Armstrong.  References to the City of Armstrong and the Township of Spallumcheen can be found in Chapter 84 of 
the Legislative Assembly of the Province of BC Session held March 1st, 1913. 
 
In the province of British Columbia, municipalities are generally made up of the one employee model. What this 
means is that the Mayor and Council employ a staff person to manage the corporation. In the Township this position 
is appointed the Chief Administrative Officer. In larger organizations the position may be addressed as the City 
Manager, and in smaller municipalities they may be addressed as the Administrator. Whatever the term, the position 
generally conforms to the one employee model.   
 
The model to which the Township operates is outlined in the Township’s Organizational Chart as seen on the next 
two pages. With the Planning department transitioning to the Township from the RDNO, there have been many 
organizational changes as you will see reflected between the 2019-2020 and the 2021 organization charts.  
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Township of Spallumcheen Organization Chart (cont) 

As shown below, there have been significant changes over the past year with the Township’s Organization Chart. 
What remains consistent, is the one employee model. The Chief Administrative officer is Council’s chief policy 
advisor. Council is the body that sets policy and direction for the Township and through the Chief Administrative 
Officer those decisions are communicated to staff for action.  
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2018 – 2022 Council 

Back Row:  Councillor Todd York, Councillor John Bakker,  
    Councillor Joe Van Tienhoven, Councillor Andrew Casson, 
    Councillor Gerry Popoff 
 

Front Row:  Chief Administrative Officer Doug Allin, Mayor, Christine Fraser, 
   Councillor Christine LeMaire 

 
 
 
 

2018 – 2022 ACTING MAYOR APPOINTMENTS 

November 2018 to June 2019 Councillor Todd York 

July 2019 to February 2020 Councillor Andrew Casson 

March 2020 to October 2020 Councillor Joe Van Tienhoven 

November 2020 to June 2021 Councillor Christine LeMaire 

July 2021 to February 2022 Councillor Gerry Popoff 

March 2022 to October 2022 Councillor John Bakker 
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Council Contact Information 
The Township of Spallumcheen Council has public email addresses and telephone numbers accessible by all 
Township residents. If you have questions for individual Council Members, they may be contacted via the list below. 
Members of Council are also involved in many Committees, Commissions, Boards, Societies and Advisories related 
to their roles on Council. A list of those appointments are after the contact information pages.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Mayor Christine Fraser 
 

210 Greenhow Road 
Vernon, BC  V1B 3S2 

Email:  mayor@spallumcheentwp.bc.ca  

 
 

Phone: 250-549-8360 
Cell: 250-549-8866 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Councillor John Bakker 
 

3779 Creamery Road 
Spallumcheen, BC  V0E 1B8 

Email:jbakker@spallumcheentwp.bc.ca  

 
 

Phone: 250-546-8639 
Cell: 250-503-7558 

Councillor Andrew 
Casson 

 
 
 
 
  

Councillor Andrew Casson 
 

3070 Becker Street 
Armstrong,  BC  V0E 1B1 

Email:  acasson@spallumcheentwp.bc.ca  

 
 
 

Cell: 778-212-0907 

Councillor Christine 
LeMaire 

 
 
 
 
  

Councillor Christine Lemaire 
 

4473 Schubert Road 
Spallumcheen, BC  V0E 1B4 

Email:  clemaire@spallumcheentwp.bc.ca  

 
 
 

Phone: 250-546-1884 

Councillor Gerry Popoff 
 
 
 
 
  

Councillor Gerry Popoff 
 

4968 Malpass Road 
Spallumcheen, BC  V0E 1B3 

Email:gpopoff@spallumcheentwp.bc.ca  

 
 

Phone: 250-546-3646 
Cell: 250-306-1252 

Councillor Joe Van 
Tienhoven 

 
 
 
 
  

Councillor Joe Van Tienhoven 
 

3432 Lockhart Crescent 
Spallumcheen, BC  V0E 1B8 

Email: 
jvantienhoven@spallumcheentwp.bc.ca  

 
 
 

Phone: 250-546-3204 

Councillor Todd York 
 
 
 
 
  

Councillor Todd York 
 

4275 Todd Place 
Spallumcheen, BC  V0E 1B4 

Email:  tyork@spallumcheentwp.bc.ca 

 
 
 

Phone: 250-546-2100 
  

Council Annual Liaison Appointments 
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As noted on the previous page, members of Council are involved in many Committees, Commissions, 
Boards, Societies and Advisories related to their roles on Council.   
 
APPOINTMENTS: 
(Council to attend meetings when required as a voting member, where non-voting Council will attend only 
as available) 

1)  Agricultural Advisory Committee Responsibility 
Cllr. Gerry Popoff 

Alternate 
Cllr. John Bakker 

2)  Armstrong-Spallumcheen Chamber of Commerce 
(Meetings held 3rd Thursday of Each Month – Evening) 

Responsibility 
Cllr. Joe Van Tienhoven 

Alternate 
Cllr. Andrew Casson 

3)  Armstrong-Spallumcheen Fire Services Commission 
 

Responsibility 
Cllr. Joe Van Tienhoven 
Cllr. Todd York 

Alternate 
Cllr. John Bakker  
Cllr. Andrew Casson 

4)  Armstrong-Spallumcheen Parks & Rec Commission  
(Meetings held last Tuesday of Each Month at 5:30 pm) 

Responsibility 
Cllr. John Bakker 
Cllr. Andrew Casson 

Alternate 
Cllr. Joe Van Tienhoven 
Cllr. Todd York 

5)  City of Armstrong Township of Spallumcheen Joint Water 
and Wastewater Strategy Committee 

Responsibility 
Mayor Christine Fraser 
Cllr. Joe Van Tienhoven 

Alternate 
Cllr. Andrew Casson 
Cllr. John Bakker 

6)  Columbia Shuswap Rail Trail Responsibility 
Cllr. Todd York 

Alternate 
N/A 

7)  Fire Training Centre Policy Board Responsibility 
Cllr. Joe Van Tienhoven 

Alternate 
Cllr. Todd York 

8)  Municipal Insurance Association of British Columbia – 
Voting Delegate 

Responsibility 
Mayor Christine Fraser 

Alternate 
#1-Cllr. Christine LeMaire 
#2 Cllr. Andrew Casson 

9)  North Okanagan/Columbia Shuswap Regional Hospital 
District 

Responsibility 
Mayor Christine Fraser 

Alternate 
Cllr. Christine LeMaire 

10)  Okanagan Indian Band Joint Advisory Committee Responsibility 
Mayor Christine Fraser 
Cllr. Gerry Popoff 

Alternate 
Cllr. Todd York 

11)  Okanagan Rail Trail 
(Regional appointment) 

Responsibility 
Cllr. Todd York 

Alternate 
N/A 

12)  Okanagan Regional Library Board Responsibility 
Cllr. Andrew Casson 

Alternate 
Cllr. Christine LeMaire 

13)  Regional Agricultural Advisory Committee Responsibility 
Cllr. Gerry Popoff 

Alternate 
Cllr. John Bakker 

14)  Regional District of North Okanagan – Board of Directors 
(Meetings held 1st and 3rd Wednesdays of Each Month, Late 
Afternoon)  

Responsibility 
Director:  
Mayor Christine Fraser 

Alternate 
Cllr. Christine LeMaire 

15)  Regional Growth Management Advisory Committee Responsibility 
Cllr. Christine LeMaire 

Alternate 
Mayor Christine Fraser 

16)  Spallumcheen Emergency Program Committee Responsibility 
Cllr. Joe Van Tienhoven  

Alternate 
Councillor Todd York 

17)  Splatsin Band Joint Advisory Committee 
Cllr. Lawrence William 
Cllr. George Dennis III 

Responsibility 
Cllr. Todd York  

Alternate 
Cllr. John Bakker 

18)  North Okanagan Wastewater Recovery Project (NOWRP) 
(Partnership with OKIB & RDNO) 

Responsibility 
Mayor Christine Fraser 
Cllr. Christine LeMaire 

Alternate 
Cllr. Andrew Casson 

19)  Thompson-Okanagan Southern Interior Development 
Initiative Trust (SIDIT) 

Responsibility 
Mayor Christine Fraser 

Alternate 
N/A 

 

LIAISONS 
(Council members may attend meetings based on availability, due to attendance as a non-voting member) 
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20)  Armstrong-Spallumcheen Museum and Art Gallery 
(Meetings held 3rd Wednesday of Each Month) 

Responsibility 
Cllr. John Bakker  

21)  Armstrong-Spallumcheen Trails Society Responsibility 
Cllr. Christine LeMaire 

22)  Haugen Community Healthcare Society Responsibility 
Cllr. Christine LeMaire 

23)  O’Keefe Ranch and Heritage Society 
(Meetings held 3rd Tuesday of Each Month) 

Responsibility 
Cllr. Andrew Casson 

24)  Spallumcheen Housing Society 
(Meets quarterly on Thursdays at 9:00 am) 

Responsibility 
Cllr. Todd York 

25)  Sunset Housing Society (Three Links Lodge) Responsibility 
Cllr. Todd York 

 
Important Information: 
*SOCIETIES – Annual attendance, if requested, at Committee of the Whole via Delegation Request Form 
for information update to Council.  Minutes to be provided to the Corporate Officer for the Council Weekly 
Summary for information. 

*Committee, Commission, Boards – Minutes are required to be submitted to the Township’s Corporate 
Officer for inclusion on the Council agenda as communication and for receipt. 
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2020 Year in Review
  

2020 Year in Review 
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Community Participation 

Township of Spallumcheen 2020 Annual Report Page 10

DRAFT 

for
 re

vie
w



Community Engagement 
 
Though in person meetings were sidelined in mid-March 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, Council was able to have a few round table meetings 
to engage with the community in 2020. 
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Awards & Presentations 
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Community Survey Results 
In October and November of 2019, the Township conducted a Citizen Survey to gather feedback about the 
Township’s programs and services. The survey was designed to help the Township understand community priorities 
for allocating Township resources and budgets and gather input regarding key issues. Two surveys were provided 
asking identical questions. One was available only to randomly selected participants with the objective of 
establishing statistically significant results (Closed Version), and the other was open to all community members 
(Open Version). The closed survey ensured that results encapsulated a cross demographic of all classes. The 
complete report can be found on our website:  https://spallumcheen.civicweb.net/document/7610 
 
PROGRAMS & SERVICES SUMMARY 
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Department updates  

Department Updates 
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Chief Administrative Officer Message 
 

It would be hard to reflect on 2020 by only looking at the numbers. If nothing else, 2020 
taught us that it is our connections; our relationships; that truly do mean the most. Many 
of us found ourselves without access to the things that are most important to us such as 
family and the freedom to do as we please. This lack of connection had a profound effect 
on us all and the staff of the Township of Spallumcheen were not different. It would be 
naïve to say that the mental impacts of COVID-19 are almost gone due to hope presented 
by vaccines. Feeling hope is truly amazing after the past year but many of us will be 
forever changed by our experiences in 2020. Township staff were unbelievable in their 
dedication in the face of terrifying odds to keep lines of communication open for our 

residents, businesses and industry partners. I applaud their loyalty and bravery in the face of not known what to 
expect and what the consequences would be.  

In addition to dealing with the physical and mental effects of COVID-19, Township of Spallumcheen Council and 
staff were able to look at the future health of our community and continue to partner with industry, business 
community members, farming community members and other key partners to grow our community forward. “Open 
for business” is not just a slogan; it is the future of our community. Spallumcheen came from an agricultural past, 
and we honour that past with our working relationships with existing farming operations as well as looking for new 
diverse agri-economic options.  

2020 also highlighted for us some of the challenges we bring forward from our past as a community and work toward 
future solutions to those inherited issues. The Township is always looking to the future with our planning but we are 
always facing situations that remain unresolved such as long standing issues with  water, wastewater , storm water 
, and roadways to name a few. These issues present challenges for the corporation staff and Council but we have 
always tackled these, and other issues head on to ensure they are not left behind for others to address in the future. 
Beyond the challenges we faced because of COVID-19; we were able to work with the community to bring five 
water districts under the umbrella of the corporation. Council has been and continues to manage these issues in 
alignment with our Asset Management plan all while committing to keeping rates and taxes stable 

Council’s foresight to map out a strong plan for success in the form of Asset Management planning and the 
Community Development plan in addition to their strong focus on community inter-relations in the form of surveys 
and roundtables means that the Township of Spallumcheen is well poised to head into the future, stronger and 
healthier than ever before. It is a privilege to work with a dedicated Mayor and Council along with a resilient staff 
that works so hard to serve the Township residents.  

 
Respectfully, 
Doug Allin, CAO 
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Administration and Operations Team 
The Township of Spallumcheen administration and operations team in 2020 consisted of 5 Managers, 4 inside staff, 
and 6 outside staff. In 2021 we are a staff of 6 Managers, 5 inside staff and 6 outside staff. With a small but mighty 
complement of staff we manage and maintain the Township which consists of a population of 5106 according to the 
2016 Stats Canada Census and 5,623 residents as of the 2020 BC population municipal estimate, over 213 
kilometres of road, encompassing 26,386 hectares. 
 

MANAGEMENT TEAM Ph.# 250-546-3013 

Chief Administrative Officer  Doug Allin 

Corporate Officer  Cindy Graves 

Chief Financial Officer   Deb Clipperton 

Manager of Operations  Tyler McNeill 

Manager of Planning & Development (September 2019 to August 28, 
2020) 

 Ira Adams 

Planner (May 2020 to March 2, 2021)  Scott Beeching 

Planner (April 12, 2021 to current)  Carie Liefke 

Deputy Corporate Officer (May 17, 2021 to current) Lisa Gyorkos 

INSIDE ADMINISTRATION TEAM Ph.# 250-546-3013 

Office Clerk III (Corporate)  Maureen Williamson 

Accounting Clerk (2020 to March 16, 2021)  Heidee Kerry 

Accounting Clerk (March 2020 to December 7, 2020)  Dawn Tonkin 

Temp Accounting Clerk (November 10, 2020 to January 31, 2021) 
Accounting Clerk (February 1, 2021 to current)  Candi Bartsch 

Accounting Clerk (April 16, 2021 to current)  Theresa Mackay 

Clerk II (November 2018 to June 2020) 
Casual (June 2020 to current)  Judy Heaton 

Clerk II (June 2020 to current)  Katherine Eyre-Huber 

OUTSIDE OPERATIONS TEAM Ph.# 250-546-9636 

Foreman   Brent Stowards 

General Classification   Aaron Brown 

General Classification   Warren Lightfoot 

General Classification   Christopher Cowden 

General Classification   Brenden Cooper 

Mechanic  Al Bachi 

Mechanic (Temporary/Casual)  Al Bylsma   
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Corporate Officer Message 
Welcome to the 2020 Annual Report. What a challenging year in our community, region, 
province, country, and world! As the Manager for Corporate Services for the Township our 
department worked hard to ensure we maintained support to our community while adhering 
to the Medical Health Officer and WorkSafe BC requirements. Spallumcheen’s resiliency 
through the pandemic has made Council and staff proud to be front and centre for providing 
services.   
 
As you well know, the Corporate Officer is responsible for one of the two positions that each 
municipality ‘must’ have as per section 148 of the Community Charter.  Duties include the 

legislative requirements of the position, corporate responsibilities, as well as bylaw enforcement and Dog/Large 
Animal control. My key duties include: 
 

• Ensuring statutory requirements of the Local Government Act and Community Charter are met as well as 
other legislative responsibilities. 

• Coordination and production of all agendas and minutes including Regular, In-Camera/Closed, Committee 
of the Whole, Commissions and other Joint related agendas. 

• Dissemination of internal and external correspondence. 
• Manager of animal control and bylaw enforcement services provided to the Township by contract. 
• Preparing bylaws and public notices in accordance with the applicable legal requirements. 
• Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act requests. 
• Human Resources 
• General local elections in accordance with legislative requirements. 
• Work with public elected officials and appointed bodies in a cooperative capacity. 

 
The following identifies the number of meetings that are held for Council to make decisions on behalf of their 
community.  It also identifies the number of actions required of staff in implementing the needs of the community 
directed through your Council. 
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Strategic Priorities of the Corporate Department in 2020 included: 
• Work towards the current Local Government Administration Association Records Management system.  We 

have been able to draw on casual staff with 30+ years of local government experience to bring our records 
management system into the twenty-first century.  This is an ongoing project, as it took 128 years to acquire 
the information, it will take time to determine our permanent records.  We will be ensuring we maintain our 
historic records to the highest level of required management. 

• Navigating COVID-19 to ensure we followed the Ministerial Orders for electronic meeting attendance. 
• Preparation for the dissolution of 5 water districts into the Township. 
• Community Outreach through Business, Farming, Economic Development and Water District Round 

Tables.   This included the creation of email lists to ensure Council has the avenue to share information to 
residents. 

• Evolution into the new agenda platform Agenda Notes.  This includes the ability to have electronic agendas.  
This is an ongoing project. 

• Annual Minute audits twice a year to ensure all minutes are public. 
• Development of the Corporate Services Website page, as well as ongoing communications through the 

News and Events page. 
 
Strategic Priorities for 2021 and Beyond include: 

• Continued Records Management work. 
• Review of the Council Procedure Bylaw for Electronic Meetings. 
• Local Area Services for  Water and Wastewater. 
• Continual work on Water District Dissolution. 
• Continual work on Agenda Notes program to increase report efficiencies. 
• Support to the Development Services Department. 
• Continual Improvements to the Township’s Website. 

 
As the Township continually grows and advances forward as a community, communication with our residents and 
the public has been determined as a top priority. We are looking to find better ways to keep the community updated 
and require your assistance. Please provide the Township with permission to collect and use your email addresses 
and phone numbers so that we can keep you apprised of projects, round table discussions, meetings and open 
houses.  
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Bylaw Enforcement Team Statistics – Commissionaires BC 
 
The Township of Spallumcheen Complaint Policy No. 4000.002 directs the management of complaints in the Township. 
To reduce the number of neighbourhood disputes, the Township requires two complaints from two different properties 
prior to providing action on a complaint. Exceptions relate to if the matter is of a health and safety concern. In this case, 
one written complaint would be required.   
 
The Township has a complaint form (example below) that can be found on our website at: 
https://www.spallumcheentwp.bc.ca/services/contact-us.htm 
If you do not have a printer at home and wish to submit a complaint via email, please ensure you include the following 
details: 
 

Your Information: 
• Name,  
• address,  
• phone number,  
• email address, and  
• details of complaint 
 
Complainant Information: 
• Date of the offense, 
• Address where the complaint is located, and 
• Owner Name (if known) 
 
*As the Township’s new website is launched and updated we hope 
to be able to provide an online complaint form and process. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact the office at 250-546-3013 
or via email at mail@spallumcheentwp.bc.ca  
 
On the next page you will find a summary of the past 5 years of 
complaints taken and investigated by the Township.    
 
In the Township’s 2019 Community Survey the community did not 
wish to have taxes increased for the purposes of increased bylaw 
enforcement. In 2020, the Township had 6 hours of dedicated 

service a week provided by the Commissionaires. As of December 31, 2020 the contract to provide bylaw services 
by an independent contractor ceased. Starting January 1, 2021, the Township’s Bylaw Enforcement Services are 
being provided in house. 

 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
Noise/Odor 15 5 4 10 13
Zoning/Traffic 14 27 9 39 18
Burning Issues 4 1 1 7 8
Unsightly Premises 6 11 10 3 9
Controlled Substance 1 2 0 0 0
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Bylaw Enforcement Team Statistics – K-9 Control 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Township of Spallumcheen contracts Dog and Large Animal Control to K-9 Control. The Pound is located at 
4790 Haney Road, Vernon, BC. There are two bylaws that are enforced within the Township related to these 
services: 
 

• Dog Control and Voluntary Licensing, and 
• Large Animal Control 

 
K-9 Control office hours are Monday to Saturday 9:00 am to 5:30 pm with kennel hours via appointment only. For 
after hours service please call 250-558-9294 and in the case of an emergency K-9 Control will call you back.  
Complaints can be provided in writing via an online form at K-9 Control’s website at www.dogcontrol.ca.  
 
Every pet owner, breeder and large animal owner is responsible for their animals. Whether domestic or farm 
animals, please ensure you are accountable, and in charge of your animals at all times. The Township encourages 
you to clean up after your pet and animals when utilizing Township infrastructure such as roads and trails. When 
we work together, we make a community that we can all be proud of. 
 
Please ensure that your dogs are licensed and you are adhering to the Township’s bylaws.  

• Maximum number of dogs permitted in residential areas is 3.  
• Larger agricultural properties may have up to 5 dogs.  
• Kennels and breeding of dogs are only permitted  

o On properties that are minimum size of 9.88 acres in the:  
 Small Holding (S.H.),  
 Country Residential (C.R.),  
 Agricultural (A.2) properties or  
 Large Holding (L.H.) and  

o Must be licensed with a kennel license and  
o If breeding for sale must also have a business license. 

 
Heading into 2021 we will continue educating the public about their responsibilities and the services K-9 Control 
provides. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

250-558-9294 
www.dogcontrol.ca  
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Planning and Development 
 
During 2020, Planning and Development services transitioned from the Regional District of 
North Okanagan (RDNO) to in-house Township staff. While this transition helps to highlight 
the phenomenal growth Council has undertaken in the Township, we would not be here 
without the excellent support of the RDNO. We look forward to collaborating with the RDNO 
on future projects. Our working relationship remains strong as building inspection services 
continue to be provided by the staff at the RDNO.  
 
Council and Staff would like to extend a thank you to the RDNO Planning and Development 

Staff for their support in providing professional and strategic support to our community. We will build off the strong 
foundation they started to continue to grow and develop our community.  

 

Over the next few pages, we will highlight our successes with Planning and Development services in 2020 and 
provide Councils’ plans for 2021.  
 
Development & Land Use Statistics  
The following chart summarizes planning applications for the previous five years. Planning applications have 
increased 53% since 2016.  

  

APPLICATIONS 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 

Subdivision 8 8 7 11 8 

Agricultural Land Commission 10 10 10 8 8 

Development Variance Permit 18 6 12 6 3 

Development Permit 7 3 0 0 2 

Zoning/OCP/Text Amendment 5 11 3 7 3 

Referrals/Legal Document Requests 2 4 5 3 6 

Lot Frontage Waiver 1 2 1 0 4 

Bylaw Update  2 0 0 0 0 

Total Applications 53 44 38 35 34 
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Building Activity Statistics 
The following summarizes building activity in the Township over the last five years. You will see a 52% increase in 
value of permits between 2020 and 2019 despite the COVID-19 pandemic and a 33% increase in the number of 
permits from 2019 and a doubling of the number of housing starts in 2020.  

 
Highlights from 2020 

• Transition of planning and development services from RDNO to Township staff. 

• Continue to review and make recommendations to Council based on the Asset Management plan as well 
as assess future or proposed development based on the plan. 

• North Okanagan Wastewater Recover Project received funding and design plans progressed. 

• Working with Municipal Operations department to develop workflow according to the Flood Hazzard Risk 
Assessment Project as well as assess new and existing development according to the planned works.  

• Long term water service delivery planning occurred with various Irrigation Districts for dissolution and 
preparation of asset management plans. 

• Rail Trail connectivity planning progressed with support offered to Governance committee in their grant 
application and plan development. 

• Active transportation planning moved forward with public consultation and facilitated community partners 
meetings. 

• Regional Growth Strategy boundary review began with the RDNO. 

• Regional Housing Needs Assessment was completed with staff from RDNO and the findings were 
communicated to Council for future planning.  

Outlook for 2021 
• Continue to grow relationships with business/development community and improve opportunities for growth 

under the Open for Business platform. 

• Continue to build on relationships with MoTI, ALR, OKIB, Splatsin, Regional District, City of Armstrong and 
other key stakeholders. 

• Continue to review policies, bylaws and procedures to improve permit processing timelines and 
communication with the public/applicants. 

• Continue to refine processes and streamline Development and Planning procedures and policies. 

• Grow and stabilize the Planning and Development department. 

• Work with key stakeholders to enhance the Active Transportation plan with a special emphasis on trails. 

 
  

PERMITS 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 

Value of Permits $13,942,541 $9,097,303 $16,190,084 $14,027,080 $10,114,368 

House Permits 26 13 14 6 15 

Total Permits 73 55 75 69 70 

Inspector’s Hours 925 799 857 742 602 
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Manager of Operations – Municipal Operations 
 
Municipal Operations develops and maintains the Township’s Infrastructure and 
municipal facilities. Operational areas include Public Works, Information 
technology, Cemetery operations, Solid Waste, Emergency Operations and Bylaw 
Enforcement. Through the technical expertise and skill of our crew and contractors 
the Township implements the policies, directions and bylaws as approved by 
Council.  

The Department is accountable to plan, design, construct and maintain all 
Township owned assets with effective coordination to enhance and maintain service delivery to the 
community and to deliver those services in a cost-effective manner. In addition, the Department is 
responsible for providing professional services and advice to Council, the public, and the 
development/building industry on a broad range of items related to capital construction, maintenance and 
operations. The department provides policy and strategic advice to Council.  

  
Operations

Public Works

Roads

Utilities

Fleet

Information 
Technology

Hardware

Software

Cemetery

Maintenance

Solid Waste

RDNO

Recycle BC

Emergency 
Operations

EOC

ESS

Bylaw 
Enforcement

Commissionaires
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Service Requests 
 
Many of service requests received by the Public Works Department in 2020 focused on Snow Removal 
as you can see in the graph below. The top two requests related to snow removal were for Berm Removal 
or Ice Removal.  

Council has supported the Public Works department implementing a new type of surface on gravel roads. 
This new surface consists of Recycled Asphalt Shingles mixed with high fines ¾” gravel and the 
department has started to see a reduction in Road Service requests by residents.  

 

 
 
 
 
  

Asset Management is an important 
part of how Council makes long 
term decisions. Municipal 
Operations routinely takes their 
department “health check” as seen 
in the graphic to the left.  
 
This health check takes into 
account funding, current condition, 
life expectancy and much more to 
ensure that we have the 
infrastructure in place to service 
the needs of our residents and 
businesses.  
 
Public works is trending up in all 
areas which shows that we are on 
the right track for a healthy 
community. 
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2020 Highlights 
 
 

 
  

Capital Roads – Back Enderby Road 
 
The 2020 Capital Roads program 
completed phase 1 of the Back Enderby 
Road project. This included 1.4nkm of 
full depth reconstruction and numerous 
culvert and drainage upgrades. The 
Sneesby Creek Crossing was also 
upgraded to a Q200 standard. This 
project concluded in November of 2020 
and had a total budget of $1,300,000. 

Capital Drainage – Meighan Creek 
 
The 2020 Capital Drainage project 
completed the installation of twin 1200 mm 
diameter CSP culverts on the Meighan 
Creek Crossing located on Powerhouse 
Road. The crossing was designed to 
accommodate a Q200 event as this area 
has seen multiple years of flooding and 
over topping causing road infrastructure 
damage. This project was completed in 
April of 2020 and had a total budget of 
$150,000. 

Capital Drainage – Simons Brook 
 
The 2020 Capital Drainage project completed phase 1 
installation of a 1500 mm CSP culvert on the Simons Brook 
Culvert located on Eagle Rock Road. The crossing was 
designed to accommodate a Q200 event as this area was 
considered high risk in the 2019 Flood Hazard Risk Assessment. 
This area flooded in 2017 and required emergency repairs to the 
road infrastructure. As this brook is fish bearing, a 550 mm layer 
of rip rap was embedded into the bottom layer of the culvert to 
allow for fish passage. Due to the high amount of sediment 
deposit within this stream, phase 2 will require the Township to 
acquire a maintenance license and install a sediment catchment 
pond to alleviate the amount of sediment carried downstream. 
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2021 Outlook 
 
Roads 
 
As part of Council’s Asset Management Plan, $1,350,000 has been set aside each year to address aging 
road infrastructure. Township engineers will continue to replace existing infrastructure under the guidance 
of the Asset Management Plan. With phase 1 of the Back Enderby Road Project complete, the Township 
will progress with phase 2 design which will see the continuation of full depth reconstruction and drainage 
improvements. Council, working with the development community, has approved a Capital project which 
will include the partial depth reconstruction of 400m of McLennan Road and will have a graded aggregate 
sealcoat surface. As part of the Townships sealcoat program the Township will reseal existing roads with 
this surface to expand the lifespan of these assets for another five to ten years. The Township will 
continue to expand on the existing 28 km of seal coat surface in 2021 with the resurfacing of Pineridge 
North and Maw Road. 

Stormwater 
 
In the spring of 2017, the Township was affected by an extreme runoff event caused by rain on snow 
melt which resulted in substantial flooding to municipal infrastructure and private properties. Council 
approved the creation of the Flood Hazard Risk Assessment Report (2019). This report focused on the 
Deep Creek and Fortune Creek watersheds and was part of the information Council used to develop the 
Township’s Asset Management Plan. As part of the Flood Hazard Risk Assessment Report, the relative 
flood risk at major culvert crossings was assessed based on several factors including capacity and 
potential to cause damage to infrastructure and properties. Based on the Township’s Asset Management 
Plan and the Flood Hazard Risk Assessment, ten culverts have been identified as high-priority projects.  

Each year, Council has been set aside $150,000 to address stormwater culverts to improve our 
infrastructure and to prepare our community for future extreme weather events. Council feels strongly 
that the impact of construction involving a culvert that has been earmarked for upgrade or replacement 
must be considered. Ensuring that work is completed outside of “fish windows” (or time periods when fish 
spawn) and that all required permits are obtained is our environmental responsibility.  

The Township of Spallumcheen Council has approved a plan to rehabilitate Deep Creek and Fortune 
Creek restoring their natural flow and hydrological functions within the Township boundaries. For Deep 
Creek, the project is a multi-year phased approach will help to reduce property damage and agricultural 
losses, and work towards improving water quality within Deep Creek. The plan will involve the removal 
of obstructions, barriers, and hazardous crossings. These obstacles contribute to slow flows, 
backwatering, and seasonal breaching of streambanks. Deep Creek project works will begin downstream 
in the south end of the creek in 2021 and are planned to proceed until 2024, when the project is proposed 
to be completed. The initial assessment of Fortune Creek is expected to take place over the course of 
2021 and the findings will be submitted to the Province. 

Water Systems 
 
The Township has taken on 4 additional water districts including Stardel, Highland Park, Larkin and 
Lansdowne. Council has applied for $10,000,000 in grant funding to aid in the asset replacement on 
existing infrastructure and to develop a water meter system for each district. With Council’s support the 
utilities staff will develop Emergency Response Plans for each system and coordinate a Water Quality 
Monitoring Plan. The system maintenance will include hydrants, watermain flushing, valve exercising and 
weekly bacteriological testing on each system to ensure safe conveyance of water to the residents. As 
part of the Township Council’s sustainable service delivery efforts, the governance of these systems are 
constantly being assessed and changing to meet the needs of our community.   
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Armstrong Spallumcheen Parks and Recreation 
The Armstrong Spallumcheen Parks and Recreation 
Commission is comprised of four elected officials, two 
from The City of Armstrong and two from the Township of 
Spallumcheen. Canlan Ice Sports is contracted to manage 
parks and recreation services on behalf of the 
Commission and provides the General Manager who oversees all the services 
within the communities.   

2020 was a challenging year for parks and recreation departments province wide. Our motto at Armstrong 
Spallumcheen Parks and recreation is “Everyone Plays”. The primary focus this year was to ensure that 
under the Provincial Heath Order restrictions in place that we would find a way to give every opportunity 
for the community to play and use our facilities in a safe and responsible manner.  

By working with the British Columbia Parks and Recreation Association guidelines we were able to safely 
open the following facilities:  

• July  Armstrong Spallumcheen Outdoor Pool  
• July   Fitness centre  
• September  Hassen arena 
• October  NorVal Arena (The ice making plant required a replacement in the fall of 2020 which 

delayed the start of the ice season.) 

Provincial Health Orders that had restrictions on activities impacted adult sport the most this year with 
adult game play being fully suspended early December 2020.  

To finish the year, the farmers’ market hosted their annual indoor seasonal market in December 2020.  

2021 Outlook 

Looking forward to 2021 the Parks and Recreation Department will be focusing on deliverables 
established in the Armstrong Spallumcheen Parks and Recreation Master Plan. A large focus in 2021 
will be on returning to indoor sport with a safe and strategic approach.  

While 2020 was challenging, the community rallied with us with generous donations for a new play 
structure that will be constructed in the spring of 2021. This will be a feature for years to come and for 
generations in the community to enjoy. 

2020 has also highlighted the value of 
outdoor, barrier free recreation. Along 
with the upgrades to Memorial Park 
Armstrong Spallumcheen Parks and 
Recreation Commission will be 
exploring outdoor spontaneous 
recreation opportunities in our 
community with the support of the 
Councils of the City of Armstrong and 
Township of Spallumcheen.  

Respectfully, 

Lars Larsen, General Manager

Photo by Rhythm Productions 
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Armstrong Spallumcheen Fire Department  
 

The Fire Chief reports directly to the Fire Services Commission and has day-to-
day authority and responsibility for the operation and administration of the Fire 
Department. The department provides emergency services to both the City of 
Armstrong and the Township of Spallumcheen. 

The Armstrong Spallumcheen Fire Department (ASFD) is 
a composite department comprised of three career 
members, including the Fire Chief, Fire Prevention Officer, 
Training Officer and approximately 29 Paid On-Call 

Firefighters. These men and women dedicate an incredible amount of time to provide 
a safe and professional level of service to our communities.  

 

In 2020, Captain Ian McKechnie was hired to fill the role of Training Officer. 
Ian has been an active Paid On-Call member of the ASFD for ten years and 
a lifelong resident of the Township of Spallumcheen.  

The department participated in a Provincial Wildfire deployment to the 
Christie Mountain Fire in Penticton. Engine 1 and four members provided 
structural protection to homes during the event. 

Due to COVID-19, we were forced to cancel our annual Halloween bonfire/ fireworks and the Santa Run. 
We hope to continue the tradition in 2021!  

Respectfully, 

Ian Cummings – Fire Chief  
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The Armstrong Spallumcheen Fire Department provides  
many services to both communities within our Fire Protection  
District: 

• Fire Suppression  
o Structural 
o Wildland 
o Vehicle  

• Road Rescue 
• Medical First Responder Service 
• Technical Rope Rescue – Low Angle\Steep Bank 
• Confined Space Rescue (Established in 2019) 
• Wildland Interface Structural Protection 
• Hazardous Materials Response – Awareness Level 
• Electrical Emergencies  
• Fire Safety Inspection 
• Fire Cause Determination 
• Fire Safety Plan Review 
• Planning Approvals 
• Burning Permit Approvals 
• Fire Prevention Bylaw Enforcement 
• Public Education 

o Smoke Alarm Program 
o School Visits 
o Firehall Tours 
o Fire Extinguisher Training 
o FireSmart Workshop 

• Assistance to other Emergency Services 
 

   

Armstrong Girl Guides – Female 
Empowerment  

Milky Way Dairy 4H Fire Safety and 
Emergency Preparedness Seminar  
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PROGRESS REPORT ON 2020 HIGHLIGHTS 

• 50 Pre-Plans Completed – Fire Pre-Incident Planning on commercial buildings as required 
by the Office of the Fire Commissioner 

• 623 Inspection Completed – Fire Safety Inspections as required by the Fire Safety Act 

• In progress – Development and refinement of department Operational Guidelines 

• In progress – Fire Service Commission policies creation and consolidation 

• Completed – Investigation and reporting on all fires 

 
 

• 2803 Training Hours  
• 5656 Incident Hours 
• 361 Incident Call-Outs 

 
STRATEGIC PRIORITIES FOR 2021 

• Complete an Asset Management Plan for the fire department. 

• Complete all required Fire Safety inspections. 

• Recruit an additional 5-7 Paid On-Call firefighters. 

• Continue to train all department members to meet the standard required by the Office of the 
Fire Commissioners   

• Investigate and report all fires as required by the Office of the Fire Commissioner. 
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RCMP 2020 Report  
 

Hello Spallumcheen! Your local RCMP has been working diligently to keep your 
community safe and ensure that we can all enjoy this great community. We are 
a regional police service that serves many communities within the North 
Okanagan, including the Township of Spallumcheen.   

The Armstrong Detachment is comprised of municipal and provincial RCMP 
police officers who work diligently every day to keep your community safe. Our 
focus this past year has been: 

• Traffic Safety,  
• Community Connections, and  
• Public Safety Enhancement (prolific offender management).  

As I am sure you can appreciate, the COVID-19 Pandemic has altered some of our community initiatives 
as we adjust to ensure our practices stayed within health guidelines while we all do our part. With respect 
to traffic safety, your local RCMP has made a distinct effort to be out in our rural roads and community, 
working with the Township of Spallumcheen in developing intelligence led enforcement practices to 
ensure our officers are at the right place at the right time as much as possible.     

In early 2020, the North Okanagan RCMP also changed the shifts that the officers were working as we 
realized that our communities would be better served with a different deployment of our officers. This has 
increased our ability to have more members on the road at all hours of the day and night and has proven 
to be a step in the right direction. It has been over a year since we implemented the changes but the 
results continue to speak for themselves. We have also been successful in organizing extra patrols in 
and around the Township to enhance our frontline efforts in traffic safety. These patrols have resulted in 
increased traffic enforcement in the areas where multiple traffic complaints have been received.  These 
areas include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Pleasant Valley Road 
• Salmon River Road 
• Lansdowne Road 
• Otter Lake Cross Road 
• Larkin Cross Road 

The following statistics will provide a quick snapshot into the work and calls for service in and around the 
Township of Spallumcheen: 
 

Calls for Service in 2020 (These are the total complaints made to the RCMP) 
 
 
Criminal Code Offences (Calls where an offence under the Criminal Code was involved) 
 
 
Property Offences (Calls related to personal property) 
 

 
We appreciate all the support the Community of Spallumcheen has shown us over the past year and we 
are proud to be your local RCMP. 
 
Respectfully, 
 
Sgt Justin Thiessen 
Unit Commander 
North Okanagan RCMP  

1124 

268 

129 
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Chief Financial Officer Message 
 
Welcome to the financial portion of the 2020 Annual Report. As the Township’s Chief 
Financial Officer, I am responsible for the other statutorily required position that each 
municipality “must” have as per section 149 of the Community Charter.  

Financial Services provides interdepartmental support and public interfaces that promote 
the effective, efficient and transparent operation fo the Township to ensure fiscal 
responsibility and good stewardship of the Township’s assets. This is accomplished by 
providing long-term financial planning, annual budget development, property tax and utility 
calculation and collection, treasury and cash management, procurement expertise and 

administration, as well as statutory financial reporting. 

Below are some additional responsibilities of the Finance Department:  

Preparation of… 
• the annual Five-Year Financial Plan 
• the annual Property Tax Rates  
• the Water Utility Rates 
• the working papers required for the annual audit  
• the annual financial statements and the statistical reports required by 

Senior Governments 

Procurement… 
• Management of all the Township’s purchasing processes 
• Responsible for ensuring adherence to established competitive processes 

Plan and Administer… 
• the financial operations in accordance with the Five-Year Financial Plan 

Bylaw. 
• the financial affairs in accordance with the Township’s policies and attend 

to the investment and borrowing of funds as required, within the limitations 
established by the Local Government Act and the Community Charter. 

Other Responsibilities… 
• Ensure the establishment of appropriate safeguards over all funds, 

physical assets, insurance and other property of the Township. 
• Preparation, co-ordination and administration of the records of the 

Armstrong/Spallumcheen Cemetery.  
• Revenue collections includes all billing and collections of the fees, 

charges and taxes for the Township and a number of external 
organizations that are included on the Township’s property tax notices. 

Strategic Priorities for 2021… 
• Implementation of Utility Software 
• Continued work with Local Area Service Water Utilities 
• Continue to improve financial reporting 
• Implement options for paying with Credit Cards 

 
In the pages that following you will find our financial reporting elements of the Annual Report including: 
 

• Permissive Tax Exemptions 
• Grants to Organizations 
• 2020 Statement of Financial Information Report, and 
• 2020 Audited Financial Statements 

  

Stats and 
Facts  for 

2020 
Active Venders 

322 

Accounts payable 
invoices: 

2,841 

Accounts 
Receivable invoices: 

1,622 

Payments 
Processed 

6,713 

Property Tax 
Portfolios 

2,376 
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2020 Permissive Tax Exemptions 
 
The Township of Spallumcheen considers Permissive Exemptions as outlined in the Community Charter under 
sections 224, 225, 226, and 227. Section 227 outlines the notice requirements for Permissive Tax Exemptions. 
These exemptions relate to lands owned or held by a charitable, philanthropic, or other Not-for-profit organizations. 
 

Applicants Amount 
Bill Miner Society for Cultural Advancement (Caravan Farm Theatre Society) $2,120 
City of Vernon (O’Keefe Ranch) $1,115 
City of Vernon (O’Keefe Ranch) $607 
City of Vernon (O’Keefe Ranch) $360 
City of Vernon (O’Keefe Ranch) $335 
City of Vernon (O’Keefe Ranch) $232 
City of Vernon (O’Keefe Ranch) $191 
City of Vernon (O’Keefe Ranch) $45 
Hullcar & Deep Creek Hall Society $1,487 
Monastery of the Carmel of St Joseph $2,378 
Monastery of the Carmel of St Joseph $1,906 
Seventh Day Adventist Church (Junior Academy) $28,958 
Seventh Day Adventist Church $3,263 
Total estimated exemptions $40,473 
Percentage of Property Taxes  0.69% 

 
 
2020 Grants to Organizations 
 
The Township also considers Grants-In-Aid applications by organizations that support their own programs through 
fundraising efforts. Those that are eligible require at least two-thirds of the Council members support prior to being 
approved. Those that may be eligible include charitable institutions, agricultural or horticultural societies holding 
exhibitions, a society supporting athletic skills or sports, arts or cultural center maintained in the Township, a board 
or trade or Chamber of Commerce and a body organized to advance the general interests of municipal affairs in 
the community or celebrating an event of community interest. 
 
Organization Total Support 
Armstrong/Spallumcheen Chamber of Commerce $800 
Armstrong/Spallumcheen Trails Society 1,500 
Armstrong Curling Club 10,000 
Armstrong Medical Loan Cupboard Society 1,000 
Caravan Farm Theatre Society 5,000 
Okanagan Boys and Girls Club 1,200 
Total Grants to Organizations $19,500 

 
Submissions for Grants-in-Aid must provide: 

• The name of the organization, contact person, address, telephone number and registration number; 
• Brief history of the organization, its purpose and Executive Members or Board of Directors; 
• Copy of most recent audited or certified financial statements and current operating budget; 
• Description of event, and summary of the benefits to the community; 
• Details and relative efforts to be self-supporting; and 
• The amount of funding requested. 
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2020 COVID-19 Relief Grant Funding 
 
The Township of Spallumcheen received COVID-19 relief funding in 2020 to help restart our community. 
In 2020  
 
Applicant Amount 
Hullcar-Deep Creek Hall Society $8,000 

 
 
Business Licensing Statistics and Information 
 
The Township of Spallumcheen Council implemented business licensing in 2006. Spallumcheen was one of the 
communities involved in the pilot project for the inter-community business licensing program instituted for 
contractors to work in more than one community with only one license (as opposed to applying in each community). 
Council is a strong supporter in home occupations recognizing that in this day and age the more income that can 
be generated, the stronger the local economy.  As you can see by the chart below, there has been a steady incline 
of businesses within the Township. 

 

 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 
Business License Renewal 278 271 279 270 261 
New Business Licenses 19 20 26 26 26 

Total Business Licenses 297 291 305 296 287 

 
BUSINESS LICENSING FEES 

Business License Application 
Fee 
(one time only) 

$100.00 Inter-Community Business  
License Fee 
(annual fee, if requested) 

$150.00 

Annual Business License 
(annual fee) 

$30.00 Building Inspection 
(one time only) 

Included with 
application 

Fire Inspection Fee 
(annual fee) 

$100.00 Planning Department 
(one time only) 

Included with 
application 

 
Business licenses are referred for inspections to one, two, or all of the listed referrals below, as required (depending 
on the type of business you will be operating): 

• Business License inspector (all businesses), 
• Building Inspector (at the time of application), 
• Fire Inspector (if required, an annual cost of $100), 
• Planning Department (to ensure you are meeting the Zoning Bylaw requirements), and 
• Health Inspector (as per Provincial legislation)  

275

280

285

290

295

300

305

310

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Total Business Licenses
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Statement of Financial Information Approval 
 

 
 
 

The undersigned, as authorized by the Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 9(2), approves 
all the statements and schedules included in this Statement of Financial Information, produced under the 

Financial Information Act. 
 
 

Signature on file       Signature on file     
    
Deborah Clipperton, Christine Fraser, 
Chief Financial Officer Mayor 
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Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 
 
The accompanying financial statements of the Corporation of the Township of Spallumcheen (the “Township”) are 
the responsibility of management and have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting 
standards as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting Board of Chartered Professional Accountants Canada.  
A summary of the significant accounting policies are described in the financial statements.  The preparation of 
financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management’s judgment, particularly when 
transactions affecting the current accounting periods cannot be finalized with certainty until future periods. 

The Township’s management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in compliance with legislative and 
regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is available on a timely basis for preparation of the 
financial statements.  These systems are monitored and evaluated by management. 

Mayor and Council meet with management and the external auditors to review the financial statements and discuss 
any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to their approval of the financial statements. 

The financial statements have been audited by BDO LLP, independent external auditors appointed by the City.  The 
accompanying independent Auditor’s Report outlines their responsibilities, the scope of their examination and their 
opinion on the Township’s financial statements. 

Signature on file       Signature on file  
    
Doug Allin Deb Clipperton 
Chief Administrative Officer Chief Financial Officer 
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Statement of Council Remuneration and Expenses 
 
Elected Officials 
 

Name Position    Remuneration  Expense 
Fraser, Christine Mayor  32,815  1,825 
Bakker, Jan Councillor  17,180  -  
Casson, Andrew Councillor  19,370  293 
Lemaire, Christine Councillor  19,370  -  
Popoff, Gerry Councillor  17,180  100  
Van Tienhoven, Joe Councillor  17,180  336 
York, Todd Councillor  19,370  -  
  $ 125,129 $ 2,554 

 
 
Statement of Staff Remuneration and Expenses 
 
Employees Position Remuneration Expense 

Allin, Douglas Chief Administrative Officer $192,735 12,979 
Clipperton, Deborah Chief Financial Officer 103,846 3,162 
Graves, Cindy Corporate Officer 94,019 1,407 
Bachi, Allan Mechanic 85,151 327 
Stowards, Brent Foreman 84,032 2,668 
Brown, Aaron Operator 76,762 600 
McNeill, Tyler Manager of Operations 75,738 1,349 
    
Total employees with remuneration greater than 
$75,000 559,783 22,492 

   
Add: employees with remuneration less than $75,000 929,983 3,170 
    

Grand Total         $1,489,766  $28,216 
 
 
Statement of Severance Agreements 
 
 
There were no severance agreements under which payment commenced between the Township of 
Spallumcheen and its employees during the fiscal year 2020. 
 
 
 
Signature on file  
___________________________ 
Deborah Clipperton 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Schedule of Suppliers of Goods or Services in Excess of $25,000 
 

1. Alphabetical list of suppliers who received aggregate payments exceeding $25,000 
 

Aardvark Pavement Marking Services $64,697.77  
Armstrong Regional Cooperative 135,612.05  
Armstrong Spallumcheen Parks & Recreation 1,142,451.10  
BC Assessment Authority 62,883.05  
Canyon Waterworks District 25,590.00  
Carver Don 63,500.38  
CentralSquare Canada Software Inc. 38,118.08  
Chances Bulk Unloading Ltd 133,287.23  
Chapman Industries Ltd. 242,936.47  
City Of Armstrong 598,699.35  
Corbett Marilyn H 86,875.12  
Cu Credit Mastercard 69,855.25  
Denk Karl Friederich 100,792.91  
D Webb Contracting Ltd 62,584.10  
Fletcher Paine Associates Ltd. 27,689.15  
Fortis BC - Natural Gas 51,027.37  
Grandview Waterworks District 77,740.00  
GSR Betts Consulting Inc. 26,498.52  
Laird Improvement District 137,550.00  
Lansdowne Waterworks District 56,269.00  
Larkin Waterworks District 125,690.00  
Mada Contracting (Mike Hodge) 61,936.99  
Municipal Insurance Association of B.C. 45,344.91  
North Okanagan (Shuswap) Regional Hospital 438,840.00  
Okanagan Aggregates Ltd. 57,697.56  
Okanagan Regional Library 217,208.64  
Okanagan Traffic Control Inc. 49,783.18  
Otter Lake Waterworks District 130,329.90  
Receiver General for Canada 370,237.28  
Receiver General of Canada 396,657.63  
Regional District North Okanagan 377,735.93  
Regional District North Okanagan 41,155.39  
Regional District North Okanagan 303,821.00  
Solano Resources Inc. 1,060,508.47  
Steele Springs Water District 49,070.00  
Sysgen Solutions Group Ltd. 63,455.24  
Tiger Calcium Services Inc. 63,299.25  
Urban Systems Ltd. 1,442,479.35  
Vernon Paving Ltd. Division Of Lafarge 85,987.85  
Young Anderson Barristers & Solicitors  78,344.45  
  
 $8,664,239.92  

 
2. Consolidated total paid to suppliers who received aggregate payments  

of $25,000 or less $  1,074,279.96 
 

3. Reconciliation 
Total of aggregate payments exceeding $25,000 paid to suppliers $8,664,239.92 
Consolidated total of payment of $25,000 or less paid to suppliers 1,074,279.96 
 $9,738,519.88 
 
Expenditures in the financial statements are on an accrual basis, whereas amounts paid are on a cash 
basis. It is important to note that not all payments are expenditures and that not all expenditures are 
payments. It is not practical to reconcile these sets of data. 
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MANAGEMENT'S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY

These financial statements and accompanying schedules of the Township of Spallumcheen are the responsibility
of management and have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for local
governments as established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of the Chartered Professional Accountants of
Canada.

Management is responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal controls that are designed to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded,
and reliable financial information is available on a timely basis for preparation of the financial statements. These
systems are regularly monitored and evaluated by management.

These financial statements have been audited by BDO Canada LLP, independent external auditors appointed by
the Township of Spallumcheen. The following Independent Auditor's Report describes their responsibilities, scope
of examination, and opinion on the Township of Spallumcheen's financial statements. The external auditors have
full access to the Township's Council.

Deb Clipperton
Chief Financial Officer

June 7, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Mayor and Council of the Township of Spallumcheen:

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Township of Spallumcheen (the Township), which comprise the statement of

financial position as at December 31, 2020, and the statement of operations and accumulated surplus, change in net financial

assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the

Township as at December 31, 2020, and its results of operations, change in net financial assets, and cash flows for the year

then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Township in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial

statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian

public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the

preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Township’s ability to continue as a going

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless

management either intends to liquidate the Township or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those

charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Township’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted

auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic

decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Township’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast

significant doubt on the Township’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Township to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Chartered Professional Accountants

Vernon, British Columbia

June 7, 2021
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Township of Spallumcheen

Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31 2020 2019

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 3) $ 7,769,768 $ 6,907,843
Temporary Investments (Note 3) 11,400,428 3,131,142
Accounts Receivable (Note 4) 899,979 512,095
Municipal Finance Authority Cash Deposits (Note 5) 7,694 7,694

20,077,869 10,558,774
Liabilities

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (Note 6) 2,469,958 916,903
Tax Sale Subject to Redemption 16,915 42,915
Tax Sale Subject to Refund 501 501
Deferred Revenue and Deposits (Note 7) 11,074,397 2,278,249
Municipal Finance Authority Cash Deposits (Note 5) 7,694 7,694
Long Term Debt (Note 8) 522,848 552,074

14,092,313 3,798,336

Net Financial Assets 5,985,556 6,760,438

Non-Financial Assets

Prepaid Expenses 74,282 27,495
Land Acquired Under Tax Sale 1,205 1,205
Tangible Capital Assets (Note 9) 37,277,116 35,109,224

37,352,603 35,137,924

Accumulated Surplus (Note 10) $ 43,338,159 $ 41,898,362

Contingent Liabilities and Commitments (Note 11, 12)

Approved by:

Christine Fraser Deb Clipperton
Mayor Chief Financial Officer

See accompanying notes and schedules to the financial statements 5
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Township of Spallumcheen

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

For the year ended Budget Actual Actual
 December 31 2020 2020 2019

Revenues

Taxation (Note 13) $ 5,826,249 $ 5,974,819 $ 5,820,885
Parcel Taxes (Note 14) 35,940 36,502 40,054
Government Transfers (Note 15) 2,560,442 3,100,214 1,711,434
Sale of Services (Note 16) 632,609 642,937 874,848
Portfolio Investments 60,800 206,052 272,481
Other Revenue 15,874 77,714 77,997

9,131,914 10,038,238 8,797,699
Expenses

General Government Services 1,469,875 1,366,763 1,078,527
Protective Services 820,001 653,075 734,335
Transportation Services 1,599,338 3,223,420 2,369,494
Environmental Health Services 9,325 - 104,085
Public Health & Welfare Services 3,137 4,924 3,000
Community Development Services 526,191 678,999 683,962
Recreational and Cultural Services 18,934 11,022 11,101
Fiscal Services 16,000 18,240 20,206
Water Supply 174,685 202,849 161,913
Sewer - 1,151,719 330,758
Joint Functions 1,169,468 1,287,430 1,428,468

5,806,954 8,598,441 6,925,849

Annual Surplus (Deficit) 3,324,960 1,439,797 1,871,850

Accumulated Surplus, Beginning of Year 41,898,362 41,898,362 40,026,512

Accumulated Surplus, End of Year (Note 10) $ 45,223,322 $ 43,338,159 $ 41,898,362

See accompanying notes and schedules to the financial statements 6
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Township of Spallumcheen

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets

For the year ended Budget Actual Actual
December 31 2020 2020 2019

Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 3,324,960 $ 1,439,797 $ 1,871,850

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets - 1,622,609 1,105,028

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (4,688,837) (3,790,501) (1,961,746)

Net Consumption of Prepaid Expenses - (46,787) (9,503)

Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets (1,363,877) (774,882) 1,005,629

Net Financial Assets, Beginning of Year 6,760,438 6,760,438 5,754,809

Net Financial Assets, End of Year $ 5,396,561 $ 5,985,556 $ 6,760,438

See accompanying notes and schedules to the financial statements 7
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Township of Spallumcheen

Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31 2020 2019

Operating

Cash Receipts from Taxation $ 6,044,820 $ 5,844,748
Cash Receipts from Government Transfers 11,608,168 2,146,962
Cash Receipts from Sale of Services 509,749 1,947,934
Cash Receipts from Other 77,714 77,997
Cash Payments to Suppliers and Employees (5,477,327) (5,668,531)
Interest Received 200,531 268,027
Interest Paid (18,240) (16,633)

12,945,415 4,600,504
Capital

Purchase of Tangible Capital Assets (3,790,501) (1,961,746)

Investing

Investments Acquired (9,569,285) (1,095,041)
Investments Redeemed 1,300,000 -

(8,269,285) (1,095,041)

Financing

Debt Repayment (23,704) (23,705)

(Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 861,925 1,520,012

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 6,907,843 5,387,831

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $ 7,769,768 $ 6,907,843

See accompanying notes and schedules to the financial statements 8
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

1.  Status of the Township of Spallumcheen

The Township of Spallumcheen (the "Township") was incorporated on July 21, 1892 under the laws of British
Columbia. The Township provides municipal services such as public works, water, urban planning, fire
protection services, recreational and cultural services and other general government operations.

2.  Significant Accounting Policies

These  financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Standards.

Basis of Accounting

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles for local governments as recommended by the Public Sector Accounting
Board (PSAB) of the Charted Professional Accountants of Canada.

Measurement Uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Significant
estimates in these financial statements include the determination of the useful lives of tangible capital assets
and assessment of legal claims. For common financial statement items, such as accounts payable and
allowances for doubtful accounts, measurement uncertainty is inherent but not assessable. These estimates
and assumptions are based on management's judgment and the best information available at the time of
preparation and may differ significantly from actual results. Estimates are reviewed annually to reflect new
information as it becomes available.

Segment Disclosures

A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for which it is
appropriate to separately report financial information. For each reported segment, revenues and expenses
are recorded that are either directly attributable to the segment or are allocated to the segment on a
reasonable, consistent basis. The accounting policies used for these segments are consistent with those
followed in the preparation of the financial statements as described in Note 2. The Township has provided
definitions of the segments in Note 19 as well as presented financial information in segmented format for the
current and prior year in Schedule 1.

Budget Figures

The budget figures presented are compiled from the five-year financial plan adopted by bylaw prior to May
15th  each year. Certain amounts have been reallocated to conform with Public Sector Accounting
Standards (PSAB) presentation requirements where required (see Note 18). Any subsequent amendments
to the budget bylaw are not reflected in the budget figures.
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of change
in value. Short-term investments have a maturity of 90 days or less and their carrying value approximates
fair value.

Portfolio Investments

Portfolio investments include various deposits held with the Municipal Finance Authority and are recorded at
cost. 

Deferred Revenue and Deposits

Deferred revenue and deposits includes the refundable portion of development permits and building permits,
performance security deposits, prepaid property taxes, and deferred grants. Refundable deposits are
recorded as a liability when received and will be refunded in the fiscal year in which the service contract
expires or the performance obligations have been met. If a security deposit is drawn upon, it is recognized as
revenue in the fiscal year in which the services are performed or the expenses are incurred. 

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recorded in the period in which the transactions or events that gave rise to the revenue occurred,
provided that reasonable estimates of the amounts can be made. Amounts received in advance of services
rendered or obligations fulfilled are recorded as deferred revenue until the services have been provided or
the obligation that led to the collection of funds has been discharged.

       
       Taxes are recorded at estimated amounts when they meet the definition of an asset, have been authorized

and the taxable event occurs.  For property taxes, the taxable event is the period for which the tax is levied.
As taxes recorded are initially based on management’s best estimate of the taxes that will be received, it is
possible that changes in future conditions, such as reassessments due to audits, appeals and court
decisions, could result in a change in the amount of tax revenue recognized.  Taxes receivable are
recognized net of an allowance for anticipated uncollectable amounts 

The Township is required by the School Act to bill, collect and remit provincial education support levies in
respect of residential and other properties on behalf of the Province, and school division special levies on
behalf of school divisions. The Township has no jurisdiction or control over the school division's operations
or their mill rate increases. Therefore, taxation revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the
operations of school boards are not reflected in these financial statements.

Government grants and transfers are recognized in the financial statements as revenue in the period in
which events giving rise to the transfer occur, providing the transfers are authorized, any eligibility criteria
have been met, and except to the extent that transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the
definition of a liability.  Transfers are recognized as deferred revenue when transfer stipulations give rise to a
liability. Transfer revenue is recognized in the statement of operations and accumulated surplus as the
stipulation liabilities are settled..

10
Township of Spallumcheen 2020 Annual Report Page 52

DRAFT 

for
 re

vie
w



Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

Non-Financial Assets

Non-financial assets are held for use in the provision of services and are not normally available to discharge
liabilities. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are not intended for sale in the
ordinary course of operations. The change in non-financial assets during the year, together with the net
operating surplus (deficit) for the year, provides the change in net financial assets for the year.

Tangible Capital Assets

Tangible capital assets, including assets held under capital lease, are recorded at cost in the period in which
they are acquired or constructed. Cost includes all amounts that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction, development, or improvement of the asset. Costs of repairs and maintenance are charged to
operations, and expenses that improve or extend the useful life of an existing asset are capitalized.

Contributed Assets

Contributed or donated assets are capitalized and recorded at their estimated fair value upon acquisition,
with a corresponding entry to revenue in the period received.

Assets Under Construction

Assets under construction are projects that are currently under planning, development or construction
that will result in a tangible capital asset at a future date. These costs are not amortized until the asset is
available and ready for productive use. Interest incurred on borrowed funds used during construction is
not capitalized.

Amortization

The cost of tangible capital assets, less any residual value, is amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives as follows: 

Land Not amortized

Buildings and Structures 30 to 100 years

Engineering Structures 20 to 75 years

Machinery and Equipment 5 to 75 years

Work in Progress Not amortized

Water Utilities 50 to 75 years
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

3.  Cash and Cash Equivalents
Temporary investments are held bearing interest ranging from 0.35% to 0.75% with maturities ranging from
January to March 2021.

4.  Accounts Receivable

2020 2019

Federal Government $ 193,537 $ 89,852
Provincial Government 162,179 (19)
Regional Government and Other 11,523 8,196
Trade Receivables 234,239 98,712
Taxes Receivable - Current 227,614 253,004
Taxes Receivable - Arrears 55,320 62,348
Taxes Receivable - Delinquent 15,567 2

$ 899,979 $ 512,095
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

5.  Municipal Finance Authority Cash Deposits

The Township is required to issue its long term debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority ("the
MFA"). As a condition of these borrowings, 1% of the gross debenture proceeds are withheld by the Municipal
Finance Authority as a debt reserve fund. The debt reserve fund is invested by the MFA and interest earned
and expenses incurred are reported annually to the Township. If at any time the MFA does not have sufficient
funds to meet payments or sinking fund contributions due on its obligations, the payments will be made from
the debt reserve fund. Details of cash deposits held in the debt reserve fund are as follows:

Debt Reserve Fund - Cash Deposits 2020 2019

Issue 78 - Round Prairie Water Utility $ 1,439 $ 1,439
Issue 137 - Armstrong/Spallumcheen Fire Hall 6,255 6,255

$ 7,694 $ 7,694

The Township is also required to execute a demand note for each borrowing in the amount of one-half of the
average annual principal and interest due, less the amount held back for the debt reserve fund. The demand
notes payable to the MFA are only callable in the event that a local government defaults on its loan obligation.
As there has never been a default in the history of the MFA, it is unlikely that the demand notes will be called;
therefore, the contingent liability has not been recorded in the financial statements. Details of demand notes
are as follows: 

Demand Notes 2020 2019

Issue 78 - Round Prairie Water Utility $ 2,649 $ 2,649
Issue 137 - Armstrong/Spallumcheen Fire Hall 12,408 12,408

$ 15,057 $ 15,057
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

6.  Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

2020 2019

Trade Payables $ 2,129,848 $ 650,141
Wages and Benefits Payable 340,110 266,762

$ 2,469,958 $ 916,903

Employee Future Benefits

The amount of vacation, banked time and sick pay accrued and included in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities for the current year is based upon management's best estimate based upon past performance.  The
estimated total liability for employee future benefits at December 31, 2020 is approximately $301,730
($207,447 in 2019).

7. Deferred Revenue and Deposits

2019 Received Recognized 2020

Subdivision Deposits $ 950,011 $ 17,467 $ (187,669) $ 779,809
Prepaid Taxes 230,691 230,691 (214,045) 247,337
Business Licences - 38,950 - 38,950
Grants 793,838 10,832,989 (2,055,825) 9,571,002
Development Cost Charges 202,918 138,302 583 341,803
Performance Deposits 100,791 52,480 (57,775) 95,496

$ 2,278,249 $ 11,310,879 $ (2,514,731) $ 11,074,397

During the year, the Township received a government transfer for improvements in the dyking along Fortune
Creek for flood prevention.  According to stipulations in the funding agreement any unspent funding at the project
term must be repaid.  As of year end, $793,838 of the funding was unspent and as a result the Township has
deferred the amount.
On March 13, 2020 the Township received $9,388,124 from the Province of BC as an initial payment for the North
Okanagan Wastewater Recovery Project. As of year end, $8,777,163 of this funding is unspent and as a result
the Township has deferred this amount.
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

8. Long Term Debt

All long term debt is reported net of sinking fund balances. Sinking fund instalments are invested by the MFA
and earn income, which together with principal payments are expected to be sufficient to retire the debt issue
at maturity. Where the MFA has determined that sufficient funds exist to retire a debt issue on its maturity date
without further instalments, payments are suspended by the MFA and the Township's liability is reduced to nil.
Should those funds prove to be insufficient at maturity, the resulting deficiency becomes a liability of the
Township. All debt issues have a term of 20 years.

Year Rate
Amount

Borrowed
Sinking
Fund

Balance
2020

Balance
2019

Issue 78 - Water 2002 5.37% $ 82,272 $ 69,997 $ 12,275 $ 17,978
Issue 137 - Fire 2016 2.60% 600,000 89,427 510,573 534,096

$ 682,272 $ 159,424 $ 522,848 $ 552,074

 Principal payments and sinking fund instalments due in the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Water Fire Total

2021 $ 5,988 $ 24,347 $ 30,335
2022 6,287 25,199 31,486
2023 - 26,081 26,081
2024 - 26,994 26,994
2025 - 27,938 27,938
Thereafter - 380,014 380,014

Total $ 12,275 $ 510,573 $ 522,848
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

9. Tangible Capital Assets

Cost Accumulated Amortization 2020 2019

Opening

Balance Additions Disposals

Closing

Balance

Opening

Balance Additions Disposals

Closing

Balance

Net Book

Value

Net Book

Value

Land $ 3,328,815 $ 1,500,481 $ - $ 4,829,296 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 4,829,296 $ 3,328,815

Buildings and Structures 8,599,759 442,071 - 9,041,830 (2,806,649) (153,174) - (2,959,823) 6,082,007 5,793,110

Engineering Structures 80,055,529 1,929,267 - 81,984,796 (57,504,385) (1,241,597) - (58,745,982) 23,238,814 22,551,144

Machinery and Equipment 6,249,902 7,319 - 6,257,221 (3,578,864) (215,410) - (3,794,274) 2,462,947 2,671,038

Work in Progress 287,608 3,522,843 (3,627,406) 183,045 - - - - 183,045 287,608

Water Utilities 780,821 (15,926) - 796,747 (303,312) (12,428) - (315,740) 481,007 477,509

$99,302,434 $ 7,417,907 $ 3,627,406 $103,092,935 $(64,193,210) $ (1,622,609) $ - $(65,815,819) $37,277,116 $35,109,224

16
Township of Spallumcheen 2020 Annual Report Page 58

DRAFT 
for

 re
vie

w



Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

10. Accumulated Surplus

2020 2019

Operating Fund

Operating $ 509,862 $ 1,081,060
Roads 665,583 665,583
General Government Reserve 98,973 98,973
Future Policing Reserve 291,057 291,057
Snow Removal Reserve 204,844 198,851
Fire Training Centre 10,281 10,281
Sewer Operating Accumulated Surplus (871,517) (330,758)
Stepping Stones Accumulated Surplus 195,531 217,746
Pleasant Valley Accumulated Surplus 144,738 125,511
Hankey Accumulated Surplus 78,859 78,227
Round Prairie Accumulated Surplus 36,696 44,956
Spallumcheen Water Accumulated Surplus (85,354) (67,910)

COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant for Local Governments

In September of 2020 The Township received $1,604,000 of grant funding
from the Province of British Columbia to aid with the increased operating
costs and lower revenues as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. This
funding will ensure that the services people depend on in their communities
will be available. 

$ 1,279,553 $ 2,413,577

Statutory Reserve Fund

External Equipment Reserve 909,169 897,974
Capital Infrastructure Reserve 1,080,553 1,054,350
Internal Equipment Reserve 57,195 55,867
Joint Fire Department Reserve 248,081 232,340
Joint Cemetery Reserve 119,525 119,144
Joint Parks & Rec Reserve 121,227 120,010
Park Sales Land Reserve 80,749 77,921
Water Source Development Reserve 45,000 45,000
Reserve for Grant Independence 248,279 248,279

2,909,778 2,850,885

Community Works Fund

Community Works Fund 2,394,561 2,076,751
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

Capital Fund

General Capital Fund 36,285,535 34,097,618
Water Capital Fund 468,732 459,531

36,754,267 34,557,149

$ 43,338,159 $ 41,898,362
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

10. Accumulated Surplus (Continued)            

2020 2019

Capital Fund, Beginning of Year $ 34,557,149 $ 33,672,272

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets (1,622,609) (1,105,028)
Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets 3,790,501 1,961,746
Principal Payment 23,704 23,705
Actuarial Adjustment 5,522 4,454

Capital Fund, End of Year $ 36,754,267 $ 34,557,149

2020 2019

Community Works Fund, Beginning of Year $ 2,076,751 $ 1,484,278

Grants Received 270,149 563,537
Interest Income 47,661 28,936

Community Works Fund, End of Year $ 2,394,561 $ 2,076,751

2020 2019

Statutory Reserve Fund, Beginning of Year $ 2,850,885 $ 2,808,859
Interest Income 58,893 42,026

Statutory Reserve Fund, End of Year $ 2,909,778 $ 2,850,885
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

11.  Contingent Liabilities

Regional District of North Okanagan

The Township is a member of the North Okanagan Regional District and is liable for its proportion of any
operating deficits or long-term debt related to functions in which it participates.

Municipal Insurance Association of BC

Commencing December 31, 1987, the Township of Spallumcheen entered into a self insurance program with
British Columbia municipalities and regional districts.  The Township is obliged under the program to pay a
percentage of its fellow insured's losses.  The Township pays an annual premium, which is anticipated to be
adequate to cover any losses incurred.

Municipal Pension Plan

The Township and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan ("the Plan"), a jointly trusteed
pension plan. The Board of Trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for
administering the Plan, including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The Plan is a multi-
employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits provided are based on a formula.  As at
December 31, 2018, the Plan has about 213,000 active members and 106,000 retired members.  Active
members include approximately 41,000 contributors from local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan and
adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and member
contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary's calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal
cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide
benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial
funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan, as at December 31, 2018, indicated a $2.9
million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.

The Township paid $96,791 ($90,064 in 2019) for employer contributions to the plan in the fiscal year. 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022. 

Employers participating in the Plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer contributions
made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting).  This is because the plan records
accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for
allocating the obligation, assets and cost to the individual employers participating in the plan.
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

12.  Commitments

The Township has entered into the following agreements:

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Canlan Ice Sports Corporation $ 189,963 $ - $ - $ - $ -
K9 Control 22,860 22,860 - - -

$ 212,823 $ 22,860 $ - $ - $ -

The contract with Canlan Ice Sports Corporation for Parks and Recreation management expires December
31, 2021.

The contract with K9 Control for dog and large animal control expires December 31 ,2021.
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

13.  Taxation
2020

Budget
2020

Actual
2019
Actual

Taxation
General Municipal Purposes $ 5,668,719 $ 5,816,511 $ 5,653,276
1% Utility Taxes 157,530 154,020 155,972

Collections For Other Governments
School District - 2,103,464 2,363,092
Regional District - 303,290 326,363
Regional Hospital District - 437,025 356,467
Municipal Finance Authority - 259 250
BC Assessment Authority - 62,663 57,357
Okanagan Regional Library - 216,450 202,328
Improvement Districts - 792,275 745,033

5,826,249 9,885,957 9,860,138
Transfers

School District - 2,097,876 2,355,285
Regional District - 303,290 321,933
Regional Hospital District - 437,025 356,467
Municipal Finance Authority - 259 250
B.C. Assessment Authority - 62,663 57,357
Okanagan Regional Library - 216,450 202,328
Improvement Districts - 793,575 745,633

- 3,911,138 4,039,253

$ 5,826,249 $ 5,974,819 $ 5,820,885

14.  Parcel Taxes
2020

Budget
2020

Actual
2019
Actual

Udy Specified Area $ 1,088 $ 809 $ 809
Stepping Stones 13,359 10,600 10,600
Pleasant Valley 10,992 14,592 17,175
Hankey 4,197 4,197 4,458
Round Prairie 6,304 6,304 7,012

$ 35,940 $ 36,502 $ 40,054
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

15.  Government Transfers
2020

Budget
2020

Actual
2019
Actual

Federal $ 556,500 $ 2,214,961 $ -
Provincial 1,973,942 597,480 1,082,898
Regional and Other 30,000 287,773 628,536

$ 2,560,442 $ 3,100,214 $ 1,711,434

16.  Sale of Services
2020

Budget
2020

Actual
2019
Actual

Administrative $ 265,174 $ 164,723 $ 53,833
Joint Services 21,352 - 331,483
Animal Control 1,400 1,165 1,290
Blue Bag Recycling - - 131,531
Building Permits 140,500 167,936 150,615
Business Licenses 40,450 40,385 40,530
Protective Services 4,000 5,150 3,750
Public Works - 104,937 7,074
Water User Fees 139,833 141,291 127,667
Zoning and Development 19,900 17,350 27,075

$ 632,609 $ 642,937 $ 874,848

17.  Expenses by Object
2020

Budget
2020

Actual
2019
Actual

Amortization $ - $ 1,622,609 $ 1,105,028
Contracted Services 2,574,027 3,477,733 2,969,743
Insurance 58,100 81,762 98,967
Interest and Bank Charges 18,088 20,080 22,005
Materials and Supplies 1,061,707 1,447,121 1,160,931
Other 450,000 444,134 268,663
Professional Fees 49,830 109,774 77,437
Salaries and Benefits 1,545,589 1,364,899 1,150,440
Travel and Conferences 49,613 30,329 72,635

$ 5,806,954 $ 8,598,441 $ 6,925,849
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

18.  Financial Plan

The Financial Plan anticipated use of surpluses accumulated in previous years to balance against current year
expenditures in excess of current year revenue.  The following shows how these amount were combined.

Add Back: 2020 2019
Capital Expenditures $ 4,688,837 $ 4,111,480
Debt Principal Payment 23,705 29,017
Less: - -
Debt Proceeds - -
Budgeted Transfers from Accumulated Surplus (1,387,582) (1,378,929)
Adjusted Annual Surplus $ 3,324,960 2,761,568
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

19.  Segment Disclosures

The Township of Spallumcheen is a local government that provides a range of services to its citizens.  For
management reporting purposes, the Township's operations are  reported in the following departments:

General Government Services

This department includes legislative, administration, and finance functions. Legislative sets bylaws and
policies for the governance of the Township in accordance with the Community Charter.  Administration
coordinates the operation of the Township in accordance with policies set by Council, and is responsible for
human resources, organizational changes, strategic planning, Information Systems, GIS and records
management. Finance provides financial reporting, investment of excess funds, advice and guidance to
Council and Administration, financial planning and budgeting, fee collection, and payroll administration.

Protective Services

This department includes bylaw enforcement, emergency planning, fire protection, and animal control. Bylaw
Enforcement ensures that the Township's bylaws are enforced in accordance with council policy. Emergency
Planning ensures that disaster plans are in place for the safety of the Township's residents. The Fire
Department provides fire suppression service, fire prevention programs, and training and education. Animal
Control provides dog licences and controls the animal population.

Transportation Services

This department delivers municipal Public Works services related to the planning, development and
maintenance of roads and street lighting.

Environmental Health Services

This department provides recycling services and West Nile Virus surveillance.

Public Health and Welfare Services

This department provides cemetery services.

Community Development Services

This department provides town planning, community development, and parks and riverbank planning,
ensures an acceptable quality of building construction and maintenance of properties through enforcement
of construction codes, building standards and bylaws for the protection of occupants, and facilitates
economic development by providing approval of all land development plans, application and enforcement of
zoning bylaws, and processing of building permit applications.

Recreational and Cultural Services

This department provides parks maintenance, recreation programs, and cultural programs.

Joint Functions

This department provide parks and recreation, fire, and cemetery services shared with the City of Armstrong.

Water Supply

This department provides water to specified areas in the Township. 

The accounting policies used for these segments are consistent with those followed in preparation of the
financial statements as disclosed in Note 2. For additional information see Schedule 1 - Segment
Disclosures.
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

20. Trust Funds

The Township has excluded the following trust funds and associated cash from the Statement of
Financial Position and related interest earnings and transaction from the Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Surplus:

a) Cemetery Trust Fund

The Township operates and maintains the Armstrong Spallumcheen Cemetery.  As required under
Provincial legislation, a portion of the plot sales and marker installation fees must be retained for the
future maintenance of the cemetery.

2020 2019
Balance, beginning of year 179,810 171,780
Interest income 1,924 3,760
Care fund contributions 3,457 4,270
Balance, end of year 185,191 179,810

b) Silver Star Water Works District

In 2017 the Township was appointed by the Province of British Columbia as Trustee for the Silver Star
Waterworks District. As Trustee, the Township is responsible for the administration, operations and
maintenance of  the Silver Star Waterworks District.  

      
2020 2019

Financial Assets 701,749 631,205
Liabilities (40,192) (16,350)
Non-Financial Assets 344,746 353,076
Accumulated Surplus 1,006,303 967,931
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Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

21.  Joint Functions

The Township participates in the following shared services with the City of Armstrong:

Fire Protection

53.49% (55.45% in 2019) of operating revenues and expenses (the rate is calculated from the proportion of
taxable property assessments on improvements only), and 60% of all capital costs.

Cemetery

50% of operating revenues, expenses and capital costs.

Parks & Recreation

49.96% (50.04% in 2019) of operating revenues and expenses (rate is calculated from the proportion of
population based on the most recent Federal census) and 50% of all capital costs.

The Township's proportionate share of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognized as follows in
the financial statements:

2020
Fire

Protection Cemetery
Parks &

Recreation

Revenue $ 28,437 $ 22,054 $ 152,451
Expense 397,579 44,943 577,314
Due to/from City of Armstrong 101,788 (16,651) -
Due to/from Parks & Recreation Commission - - (79,558)
Amortization expense 97,449 1,371 132,488
Tangible Capital Assets 2,309,607 134,510 4,845,184

2019
Fire

Protection Cemetery
Parks &

Recreation

Revenue $ 18,413 $ 28,447 $ 330,167
Expense 448,145 39,991 965,362
Due to/from City of Armstrong - (13,533) -
Due to/from Parks & Recreation Commission - - -
Amortization expense 85,202 1,565 122,928
Tangible Capital Assets 2,407,055 105,286 4,539,727

27
Township of Spallumcheen 2020 Annual Report Page 69

DRAFT 

for
 re

vie
w



Township of Spallumcheen

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2020

22.  Subsequent Events

On December 14, 2020, the Province of British Columbia by Order in Council 625 revoked the letters patent
for Highland Park Waterworks District and continued them as a local area service of the Corporation of the
Township of Spallumcheen as of January 1, 2021.
On December 14, 2020, the Province of British Columbia by Order in Council 626 revoked the letters patent
for Lansdowne Waterworks District and continued them as a local area service of the Corporation of the
Township of Spallumcheen as of January 1, 2021 .
On December 14, 2020, the Province of British Columbia by Order in Council 629 revoked the letters patent
for Larkin Waterworks District and continued them as a local area service of the Corporation of the Township
of Spallumcheen as of January 1, 2021 .
On December 14, 2020, the Province of British Columbia by Order in Council 627 revoked the letters patent
for Silver Star Waterworks District and continued them as a local area service of the Corporation of the
Township of Spallumcheen as of January 1, 2021 .
On December 14, 2020, the Province of British Columbia by Order in Council 628 revoked the letters patent
for Stardel  Waterworks District and continued them as a local area service of the Corporation of the
Township of Spallumcheen as of January 1, 2021. 

23.  Comparative Figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation.
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Township of Spallumcheen

Schedule 1 - Segment Disclosures - Current Year

For the year ended December 31, 2020

General
Government

Protective
Services

Transportation
Services

Community
Development

Sewer 
Services

Joint 
Functions

Other
Services*

Water 
Supply

2020
Total

Revenues

Taxation $ 5,974,819 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 5,974,819
Parcel Taxes - - 809 - - - - 35,693 36,502
Government Transfers 2,424,412 27,147 - - 620,961 - 27,694 - 3,100,214
Sale of Services 205,108 6,315 104,937 185,286 - - - 141,291 642,937
Portfolio Investments 199,045 - - - - - - 7,007 206,052
Other Revenue 69,804 - 7,910 - - - - - 77,714

8,873,188 33,462 113,656 185,286 620,961 - 27,694 183,991 10,038,238

Expenses

Amortization 6,955 - 1,470,406 - - 132,820 - 12,428 1,622,609
Contracted Services 36,473 562,392 164,912 395,324 1,151,719 1,154,610 8,954 3,349 3,477,733
Insurance 61,501 - 20,261 - - - - - 81,762
Interest and Bank Charges (11) - - - - - 18,240 1,851 20,080
Materials and Supplies 34,220 1,130 1,231,584 4,124 - - 5,187 170,876 1,447,121
Other 228,322 75,514 28,908 105,803 - - 206 5,381 444,134
Professional Fees 102,656 - - 7,118 - - - - 109,774
Salaries and Benefits 875,002 14,039 305,081 160,214 - - 1,599 8,964 1,364,899
Travel and Conferences 21,645 - 2,268 6,416 - - - - 30,329

1,366,763 653,075 3,223,420 678,999 1,151,719 1,287,430 34,186 202,849 8,598,441

Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 7,506,425 $ (619,613) $ (3,109,764) $ (493,713) $ (530,758) $ (1,287,430) $ (6,492) $ (18,858) $ 1,439,797

*Environmental Health Services, Public Health & Welfare Services, Recreational and Cultural Services, Fiscal Services
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Township of Spallumcheen

Schedule 1 - Segment Disclosures - Prior Year

For the year ended December 31, 2019

General
Government

Protective
Services

Transportatio
n Services

Community
Development

Sewer Joint 
Functions

Other
Services*

Water 
Supply

2019
Total

Revenues

Taxation $ 5,820,885 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 5,820,885
Parcel Taxes - - 809 - - - - 39,245 40,054
Government Transfers 1,193,900 43,101 100,000 - 50,000 - 309,243 15,190 1,711,434
Sale of Services 94,363 5,040 7,074 177,690 - 331,483 131,531 127,667 874,848
Portfolio Investments 261,542 - - - - - - 10,939 272,481
Other Revenue 68,670 - 9,327 - - - - - 77,997

7,439,360 48,141 117,210 177,690 50,000 331,483 440,774 193,041 8,797,699

Expenses

Amortization 6,250 - 876,606 - - 209,744 - 12,428 1,105,028
Contracted Services 41,714 542,237 151,048 542,272 330,758 1,218,724 112,056 30,934 2,969,743
Insurance 74,393 3 24,384 17 - - - 170 98,967
Interest and Bank
Charges

(52) - - - - - 20,206 1,851 22,005

Materials and Supplies 30,360 1,140 1,017,197 133 - - 3,377 108,724 1,160,931
Other 136,677 76,342 32,619 16,495 - - 1,248 5,282 268,663
Professional Fees 68,525 - 3,221 5,691 - - - - 77,437
Salaries and Benefits 660,937 114,613 256,686 114,175 - - 1,505 2,524 1,150,440
Travel and Conferences 59,723 - 7,733 5,179 - - - - 72,635

1,078,527 734,335 2,369,494 683,962 330,758 1,428,468 138,392 161,913 6,925,849

Annual Surplus (Deficit) $ 6,360,833 $ (686,194) $(2,252,284) $ (506,272) $ (280,758) $(1,096,985) $ 302,382 $ 31,128 $ 1,871,850

*Environmental Health Services, Public Health & Welfare Services,  Recreational and Cultural Services, Fiscal Services
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THE TOWNSHIP OF SPALLUMCHEEN  
COUNCIL AND STAFF  

THANK YOU  
FOR REVIEWING THE 2020 ANNUAL REPORT. 

 
ANY QUESTIONS PLEASE CONTACT THE  

TOWNSHIP OF SPALLUMCHEEN MUNICIPAL OFFICE AT 250-546-3013. 
 

*THANK YOU TO THOSE WHO CONTRIBUTED PHOTOS TO MAKE OUR ANNUAL REPORT GREAT* 
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